I. ASSIGNMENTS OF EIZKOR 

1. Mr. Pindter-Ronilla's counsel was constitutionally deficient and 

prejudicial because he did not properly raise the unwitting possession 

affiilnative defense. 

2. Defense Counsel was co~lstitutionally deficient and prejudicial because 

he failed to investigate the unwitting possession affirmative defense. 

3. Defense Counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient and 

prejudicial as to the Reckless Driving cl~arge because he failed to 

present and argue the correct law. 

4. Defense Counsel was constitutionally deficient and prejudicial because 

he failed to investigate whether or not his needed the assistance of an

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  Whether Defense Counsel's failure to raise the unwitting possession 

affirmative defense rendered the trial unfair and prejudicial under State 

v. Tlzomas; 

2. Whether this court should reverse the guilty verdict and remand with 

respect to the VUCSA violation when Defense Counsel fails to 

investigate and properly raise the unwitting possession defense. 



3. Whether this court should reverse the guilty verdict and remand with 

respect to thc Reckless Driving charge when Defense Counsel's 

misstatement of the law violates Mr. Pindter-Bonilla's right to a 

correct statement of the law under Slate v. Thonzas. 

4. Wl~ether this court should reverse the guilty verdicts and remand with 

respect to Mr. Pindter-Bonilla's inability understand the proceedings 

before him under Slate v Prok when Defense Counsel failed to 

investigate his client's inability to coi~~prehend English. 

111. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Background 

Only a few years ago, 19-year-old Marco Pindter-Bonilla 

immigrated to the United States from Mexico. In his few short years here, 

he has learned to converse with others in English, but still struggles to 

understand many words in English. Before he was arrested for the offense 

in this case, he was planning on returning to high school in Everett to 

finish his schooling. 

R. Substantive Facts 

On August 18,2012, Marco Pindter Bonilla was driving home 

hom Yakima where he had visited family to have dinner with his mother. 

The sun was setting and he was in a hurry to get home to his mother in 

Everett, who had dinner waiting for him. RP 81. He hoped to get home in 



time so as to not upset his mother and so that he could be a "good son." 

RP 81. 

It was a clear summer night and the road was near empty. RP 82- 

84. As the sun set, Mr. Pindter-Bonilla realized how late he was and began 

to increase his speed through roads that were essentially unoccupied. RP 

82-84 

Meanwhile, Trooper Jay Farmer was working trafic patrol on 

Interstate 90 traveling eastbou~d near Mile Post 108. RP 3-4. IIe radared 

Mr. Pindter-Bonilla's vehicle at 1 12 miles per hour as it descended the 

downgrade. RP 4. Trooper Farmer tunled his patrol car around to pursue 

the vehicle. RP 5. 

Trooper Sterkel was also working traffic patrol in the area when he 

heard the call and noted the lone vehicle traveling at 112 miles per hour 

was headed in his direction. RP 55. Trooper Sterltel used his laser radar 

device to clock the vehicle and received a reading of 103 miles per hour. 

RP 56. Mr. Pindter Bonilla was slowing down. Although I'rooper Farmer 

testified that there vehicles in the area when he pulled Mr. Pindter-Bonilla 

over, the record does not establish when these vehicles were present 

At trial, the facts were disputed by either side as to whether 

Trooper Farmer first tailed the vehicle to verify the speed or immediately 

activated his emergency light bar once he was on the westbound side of 



the Interstate. RP 29, 83. When he noticed the flashing lights, Mr. Pindter- 

Bonilla immediately pulled his vehicle over to the side of the freeway, 

near mile 106 marker. RP 29. 

Immediately after the vehicle stopped, Trooper Farmer rushed to 

the vehicle and ordered Mr. Pindter-Bonilla out of the car, RP 30. Trooper 

farmer immediately arrested Mr. Pindter-Bonilla and escorted him back to 

his vehicle. RP 30. Although he immediately arrested Mr. Pindter-Bonilla 

for reckless driving, Trooper Farmer tries to frame the intial contact as a 

mere "investigation." W 30. His testimony shows that was not the case. 

During the 3.5 Hearing, Trooper Farmer implied that this was not 

an immediate mest, hut his testimony proves the contrary, "As we were 

walking back to my vehicle and 1 asked him why he [was] going that fast 

and he said he go [sic] to Everett tomorrow." RP 30. Trooper farmer 

cuffed Mr. Pindter-Bonilla and informed him that he was under arrest for 

reckless driving. RP 3 1. 

Trooper Farmer testified that he Mirandized Mr. Pindter-Aonilla, 

and read him his rights in English, from his department issued card. RP 

3 1. Trooper Farmer did not read Mr. Pindter-Bonilla the rights in Spanish 

or even inquire as to Mr. Pindter-Bonilla's ability lo understand English 

before reading his Miranda rights in English. 



Trooper Farmer then searched Mr. Pindter-Bonilla's person. W 

32. During the search, Trooper Farmer discovered a small tied-off baggy 

in Mr. Pindter-Bonilla's pocket that contained a single half-crushed 

"partial pill." RP 33. When asked where he obtained the pill. Mr. Pindter- 

Bonilla told the trooper that lie found it at a McDonald's and that he 

believed it to be "ecstasy." RP 34. 

Trooper Farmer testified that Mr. Pindter-Bonilla stated he found 

the pill in a bathroom at McDonalds earlier that evening. W 35. Although 

Mr. Pindter-Bonilla disputed the clailli that it was in the bathroom where 

he acquired it, and instead stated that he found it on the ground outside of 

the McDonalds. RP 35. 89-90. 

C. Mr. Pindter-Ronilla's ability to understand the proceedings 
and his own defense 

A review of the record shows that Mr. Pindter-Bonilla certainly 

understands how to converse in Basic English. This limited speaking 

ability is evident through the evidence presented at trial regarding his 

arrest, during which time it is clear that he can understand most of what is 

said to him and many of the questions asked of him. Still, while the record 

shows that Mr. Pinier-Bonilla could certainly hold a basic conversation in 

English. the rccord also contains strong evidence that Mr. Pindter- 



Bonilla's struggled to understa~~dparticular words and thus particular 

conversations in English. 

Mr. Pindter-Bonilla's first words on the stand were "I want to 

apologize for my language," and he also repeated this apology after he 

was finished giving testimony. RP 77, 94. The court, nor defense counsel 

ever inquired as to whether Mr. Pindter-Bonilla would like the assistance 

of an interpreter. At several points during the trial, Mr. Pindter-Bonilla had 

to have questions restated to him in a different manner because he could 

not understand the word asked of him, such as "[his car] coasting," after 

admitting he did not know the word to describe what he was doing in his 

car. RP 81-82. 

Throughout his trial testimony, Mr. Pindter-Bonilla made it clear 

to the court that he was having difficulty understanding the questions 

being asked of him from both the prosecutor and from defense counsel. In 

fact, on at least eight dijjferent occasions Mr. Pindter-Bonilla voiced his 

language struggles in open court using words to the effect of, "I do not 

understand." Instead of asking Mr. Pindter-Bonilla if he would like an 

interpreter, Defense Counsel was forced to ask some questions followed 

up with, "do you understand?". RP 82; 84-85, 90-91. 

In each instance, Mr. Pindter-Bonilla struggled to give responsive 

answers. Mr. Pindter-Bonilla struggled to give answers to his defense 



counsel that made sense. See, e .g ,  RP 82.When he struggled the most with 

explaining his actions, instead of asking Mr. Pindter-Bonilla if he would 

like an interpreter, Defense Counsel instructed his client to instead a a 

diagram for the jury so that he could properly explain himself. RP 85-86. 

Mr. Pindter-Bonilla was the only witness called by defense 

counsel. The jury convicted him on both counts. At sentencing, Mr. 

Pindter-Bonilla again struggled to converse with court witl~out a Spanish 

interpreter. 

"I want to gel out of the country and still my name now 
clear everything up. I want to get out like clean like 
because I don't have no warrant. What is I try to fix niy 
stuff later 8 years to come back this here and have that 
warrant and have that fine and I don't want that to stop me 
fix my stuff, fix my status like if T have a chance to do it.'' 
RP 131. 

Despite the numerous incidents in which Mr. Pindter-Bonilla told 

the court and his counsel that he did not understand, the record laclts any 

evidence that the court or defense counsel ever made Mr. Pindter-Ronilla 

aware that employing an interpreter was a possibility. Defense counsel 

could have afforded Mr. Pindter-Bonilla an interpreter to fully interpret 

the case for Mr. Pindter-Bonilla. Additionally, a "stand-by" interpreter 

could have been appointed to interpret difficult words or phrases as 

appropriate. Such an inteiyreter would have been appointed at public 



expense because Mr. Pindter-Bonilla, a current high school student and 

recent immigrant, was and still is indigent 

D. Defense Theory & Closing Argument 

A careful review of the record does not reveal a consistent and 

coherent trial strategy by defense cou~lsel on either charge. First, defense 

counsel did not make any substantive objections throughout most of the 

trial. The only objections he made went to the admissibility of the State's 

otherwise uncontroverted evidence. 

Second, defense counsel only called onc defense witness: Mr. 

Pindter-Bonilla. When called to the stand however, it was not at all 

apparent what-if anything-defense counsel had hoped to elicit from Mr. 

Pindtcr-Bonilia to aid in his defense. Mr. Pindter-Aonilla's testimony as 

seems to reveal that Mr. I'indter-Bonilla himself did not understand the 

nature of the charges and what was required to prove that he was guilty of 

both charges. See, e.g.. RP 82-88. 

Third, tl~roughout the trial, defense counsel's only real defenses to 

either charge would have required the jury to ignore the jury instructions, 

the law on each couilt, and the evidentiary rulings of the couil. These 

arguments finally became apparent during closing argument and were 

easily dismissed by the State during rebuttal. 



With regard to the reckless driving charge, Defense Counsel's 

entire closing arguinent was premised on a misunderstanding of the 

standard for reckless driving. Specifically, defense counsel argued that the 

jury should acquit Mr. Pindter-Bonilla because he did not endanger the 

"property of another." RP 113. In rebuttal, the State quickly and easily 

defused defense counsel's entire closing arguing on the reckless driving 

charge by pointing the jury to the correct standard. 

With respect to the unlawful possession charge; defense counsel's 

apparent trial strategy is especially troubling. Defense counsel's proposed 

jury instructions are very insightful as to defense counsel's "strategy" or 

lack thereof. Most notably, defense counsel failed to advance---or even 

offer to the court-an instruction on the affirmative defense of "unwitting 

possession." CP 28-34. 

It is unclear from the record whether defense counsel entered the 

trial with any defense in mind, but it is clear that defense counsel did not 

conteinplate the viability of unwitting defense to the possession charge. 

Yet, during closing argument, defense counsel immediately attempted to 

argue that Mr. Pindter-Bonilla had come into the possession of the pill 

containing MI3MA unwittingly. Yet, naturally, the State immediately 

objected because defense counsel had not submitted an unwitting 

possession jury instruction. W 11 1. 



In response to the State's objection, defense counsel made no legal 

argument for or against it and casually moved on. Next, he argued that the 

jury should ignore the instructions in the law and acquit Mr. Pindter- 

Bonilla because it was only a small amount of MDMA. RP 112. This 

argument was again easily dealt with in closing by the State because it 

misstated the law and encouraged the jury to find Mr. Pindter-Bonilla not 

guilty even thougli the law of the case required it 

1V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY 

A. Defense Counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient 
and prejudicial as to the Unlawful Possession of MDMA 
charge 

The purpose of the requirement of effective assistance of counsel is 

to ensure a fair and impartial trial. State v. Thoinas, 109 Wn.2d 222,223, 

743 P.2d 816 (1987). To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Mr 

Pindter Bonilla must show that his trial attorney's perfonnance was 

deficient and that she was prejudiced by the deficiency. Strickland v. 

Wasizinglon, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1 984). Here. trial counsel was ineffective 

for a multitude of reasons. Any one, or any combination of these errors 

has deprived Mr. Pindter-Bonilla of his right to a fair trial and is therefore. 

prejudicial. 

1. Defense Counsel was ineffective because he failed to present 
an unwitting possession defense when that was the only 
viable defense to the Possession Charge. 



The first eleluent of Stvickland is met by showing that counsel's 

performance was not reasonably effective under prevailing professional 

norms. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Failure to request a jury instruction as 

to an affirmative defense can aillount to ineffective assistance of counsel. 

State v. Thomas, 109 Wn. 2d 222,226-29, 743 P.2d 8 16 (1987). In 

Thomns, the defendd~t was charged with felony flight attempting to elude 

a police vehicle. Id. at 226. Felony flight requires intentional (willful or 

wanton) behavior. Id. at 227. Thomas had a history of drinking and 

blackouts, and testified she was drunk and incoherent on the night of t l~e  

incident, and had no memory of eluding police or even of police cars 

following ller car. Id at 225. 

The defense theory of the case was that the defendant was too 

intoxicated to form the requisite intent; however, she did not request ihe 

diminished capacity instruction and the instructions given did not make 

the subjectivity of thc required intent clear. Id at 227-28. This Court 

found the jury illstructions defective because they allowed the jury to 

conclude mere intoxication satisfied the willful behavior element, without 

any further inquiry to the defendant's actual subjective intent to flee. Id. at 

229. The failure of the attorney to propose the diminished capacity 

instruction under the facts presented was therefore deficient and deprived 

Tlio~nas of a fair trial. 



The conviction was reversed and the case reillanded for a new trial. 

Id at 232; accord State 1). iVa~den, 133 W11.2d 559, 564, 947 P.2d 708 

(1997) ("Diminished capacity is a mental condition not amounting to 

insanity which prevents the defendant from possessing the requisite 

mental state necessary to commit the crime charged. . . . Refusal to give a11 

instruction that prevents the defendant from presenting his theory that a 

killing was unintentional is reversible enor."). 

a. Unwitting Possession 

In proving unlawful possession of a controlled substance, the State 

has the burden of proving only two elements: the nature of the substance 

and the fact of possession. Sfate v. Bradshaw, 152 Wn.2d 528, 537-38,98 

P.3d 1190 (2004). The crime does not require that the defendant 

"knowingly" possess the drugs and is therefore, strict liability crime. As a 

result, a defendant may be convicted of the crime without having any 

moral culpability, for instance, if the defendant finds himself in 

"possession" of the drug witl~out knowing that he has possession or 

without knowing the nature of the drug. 

To alleviate the harshness created by this strict liability crime, the 

Washington Supreme Court carved out a judicially created affirmative 

defense of unwitting possession. Id. To establish this defense, a defendant 

must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his possession of the 



unlawful substance was unwitting. See State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351. 

368-69, 869 P.2d 43 (1994). 

A defendant may establish that his possession was unwitting, 

thereby excusing his unlawful possession in one of two ways. In the first 

instance, the defendant can present evidence that he did not know he had 

possession of the controlled substance, thus negating the harshness of the 

strict liability through the possession element of the crime. However, this 

would not have been a viable trial strategy as the drug was found in Mr. 

Pindter-Bonilla's pocket and there is no evidence to suggest that he was 

unaware that it was in his possession 

Under the second circun~stance, the defendant may present 

evidence that he was not fully aware of the nature of the controlled 

substance, i.e., that he did not know the pill contained MDMA. WPIC 

52.01 provides the Pattern Insiruction of unwitting possession. If 

represented by constitutionally sufficient trial counsel, Mr. Pindter-Bonilla 

could have offered an instruction based upon the WPIC. which would 

have read something like this: 

A person is not guilty of possession of a controlled 
substance if the possession is unwitting. Possession of a 
controlled substance is unwitting if a person did not know 
the nature of the substance. 



Consistent with this instruction, a defendant is entitled to argue 

unwitting possession if any reasonable juror could find that he did not 

"know" or was not "aware" of "the nature octhe substance." The "nature 

of the substance" refers to the particular type of controlled substance 

allegedly possessed, here MDMA. See, e.g., State v. Day, 142 Wn.2d 1, 1 I 

P.3d 304 (2000). Although the exact substance need not always be proved, 

had the defendant believed that the substance may have been a lawful 

substance and not a controlled substance, the jury would be allowed to 

conclude that the defendant possessed the substance "unwittingly.'. Id 

In this case then, Mr. Pindter-Bonilla was entitled to present a11 

ullwitting possession defense if he could meet the law's lowest standard of 

proof: the preponderance ofthe evidence standard. See h re Personal 

Restraint o f  Woods, 154 Wn. 2d 400,414, 114 P.3d 607 (2005) (as the 

lowest standard of proof: a preponderance require only tbat a juror find 

that the fact is more likely than not). Applying that standard then, the trial 

court must allow the instruction if a reasonable juror could have found that 

it was more likely than not that Mr. Pindter-Bonilla did not know the pill 

he found at McDonald's was MDMA. See id. 

b. Mr. Pindter-Boniila's counsel was ineffective for failing to 
request a jury instruction on unwitting possession. 



Whether Mr. Pindter-Bonilla actually knew that the pill contained 

MDMA would have been a question for the jury. The definition of the 

word "knows" carries its ordinary meaning, and includes a definition in 

which the jury may infer the defendant's knowledge based upon the facts 

of the case. State v. Jolznson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992). 

However, the dil'ference between "knowledge" and "belief' is an 

inherently subjective question and one that must be submitted to the jury 

when requested by the defendant and supported by the law and facts of the 

case. Once the jury is given this- opportunity, it is thus permitted but not 

required "to find actual knowledge from a subjective belief based upon 

circumstarrtial evidence." la'. 

Had defense counsel requested an instruction on unwitting 

possession, the court would likely have allowcd him to advance that 

defense. In determining whether Mr. Pindter-Bonilla actually knew that 

the pill contained MDMA, the jury would have used its common 

knowledge and applied it to the facts of the case. In addition, the would 

have been encouraged by deknse counsel to consider Mr. Pindter- 

Bonilla's "subjective intelligence or nlental conditionn-including his 

English conlprehension and other factors--- to find that he did not know 

that the pill contained MDMA. See id, 



Numerous parts of the record would have supported such an 

instruction. First, the circulnstances under which Mr. Pinier-Bonilla found 

the pill strongly suggests a lack of knowledge of the contents of the pill. 

Mr. Piilter-Bonilla stated that he found the pill in a parking lot at a 

McDonalds, while Trooper Farmer, testified that Mr. Pindter-Bonilla 

stated to him that he found it in the bathroom of that same McDonalds. 

Under either scenario, it is much more likely than not that the defendant 

could not have possibly known the nature of the substance than if the 

defendant had admitted to purchasing the drugs fiom a drug dealer. An 

although the jury could have found Mr. Pindter-Bonilla not credible on 

this issue, that is not an issue for this court because we must take all facts 

in the light most favorable to Mr. Pindter-Bonilla. 

Second, the condition of the pill (a crushed, half pill) suggests that 

it would be difficult for someone to identify the pill as MD,MA just by 

looking at it. The record does not reflect whether the pill was in a capsule 

or whether it was "pressed"-the two most common forms in which the 

pills are packaged and sold. However, in either case, it would have been 

difficult for even an expert in narcotics recognition to determine whether 

they knew that ihe substance contained in it was MDMA. The State's own

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