FILED
OCT 28, 2013
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 31256-9

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

MARCO A. PINDTER-BONILLA,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GREGORY L. ZEMPEL
Prosecuting Attorney
Kittitas County, Washington

L. CANDACE HOOPER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Kittitas County, Washington

Office Address:

205 West 5th, Room 213
Ellensburg, WA 98926

Telephone: (509)962-7520

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

Argument as to Statements of Fact

Please note the record is completely silent as to certain “facts” the defense inserts into the Statement of the Case. There was nothing in the record about how many years Mr. Pindter Bonilla has been in the United States, in contrast to the statement in defendant’s brief. Also, for example, it was almost midnight when the incident occurred. (RP 27). There is no evidence in the record that the defendant’s mother had dinner waiting for him. (Brief of Appellant, p 2). The court should not consider as fact items which are not in the record.

ARGUMENT

1. **Mr. Pindter-Bonilla's counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise the unwitting possession defense where the defendant testified on the stand that he saw the baggie with the pill, knew that it was the drug charged, and put it in his pocket.**

The Law regarding Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, though all too common, is actually difficult to prove. Counsel is presumed to properly represent a defendant. State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn. 2d 61 (1996) The reviewing court gives considerable deference to counsel's performance and starts with a strong presumption that counsel was effective. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322 (1995).

Under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), ineffective assistance is a two-pronged inquiry:

“First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient

performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction...resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable." State v. Thomas, 109 Wn. 2d at 225-6 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687).

Under this standard, performance is deficient if it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. The threshold for the deficient performance prong is high, given the deference afforded to decisions of defense counsel in the course of representation. To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim, a defendant alleging ineffective assistance must overcome "a strong presumption that counsel's performance was reasonable." State v. Kylo, 166 Wn.3d 856 (2009). It is well settled law that tactical decisions shall not support a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel. If trial counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, it cannot be the basis for an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. State v. McNeal, 145 Wn.2d 352 (2002).

It is the State's contention that trial counsel for Defendant Pindter-Bonilla is and was not ineffective, and that the two prongs of the Strickland test cannot be shown.

Defendant cannot show that counsel made serious errors, and cannot show that a deficient performance prejudiced the defendant when he did not seek an Unwitting Possession instruction in this case.

The Law Regarding Unwitting Possession Defense

Unwitting possession is a judicially created defense. It ameliorates the harshness of a strict liability crime. State v. Bradshaw, 152 Wn.2d 528 (2004). It is in addition to the defenses of want of possession or that the evidence failed to show beyond a reasonable doubt such possession. State v. Morris, 70 Wn. 2d 27 (1966). Those defenses would clearly not be successful in this case, where the drugs were found in the defendant's pocket. Unwitting possession must be proved by the defendant by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Balzer, 91 Wn.App. 44 (1998). An instruction can be given to the jury *if evidence exists to support the theory upon which the instruction is based*. State v. Trujillo, 75 Wn. App. 913 (1994), review denied 126 Wn.2d 1008 (1995), emphasis added.

A defendant is not entitled to an unwitting possession instruction unless the evidence is sufficient to permit a reasonable juror to find, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the possession was unwitting. State v. Buford, 93 Wn. App.

149 (1998). The defendant may assert an affirmative defense of unwitting possession if he can establish that he was unaware he possessed the substance or that he did not know the nature of the substance. State v. Staley, 123 Wn. 2d 794 (1994) at 799.

Discussion

Thus, in order to even give the instruction, the defendant needed to have sufficient evidence, produced by any party, either that he was unaware he possessed the MDMA or that he did not know the nature of the substance. The defendant failed to present any evidence whatsoever of either thing. The defendant testified that he picked up the baggy with the pill and put it in his pocket. (RP 79). He obviously knew he possessed it. Counsel is not claiming otherwise. (See Brief of Appellant, p. 13).

Instead, counsel, in his brief gives a long and speculative argument that perhaps the defendant did not know the drugs in his pocket contained a controlled substance. The problem with this analysis is that it completely flies in the face of the actual evidence produced on the witness stand. When the trooper asked Mr. Pindter-Bonilla what the pill was, he answered that it was ecstasy. (RP 34). He said that immediately. (RP 47). Also according to all of the evidence at trial,

ecstasy is the street name for MDMA, which is a controlled substance (under Schedule I of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, RCW 69.50.204(c)(11).)

(RP 34) Both the trooper and the crime laboratory scientist confirmed that “ecstasy” refers to the controlled substance MDMA, and the controlled substance MDMA is known as “ecstasy.” (RP 34, 67) There was simply no evidence at all that the defendant did not realize that ecstasy is a controlled substance, and plenty of evidence that he did think this. When asked how he knew it was ecstasy, his response was, “Well, I go to high school and I know a lot of people, a bunch of young people do drugs and like I could tell right away that it was ecstasy.” (RP 79) When asked then if he intended to use it, he said, “No, I never use drugs. I never use drugs in my life.” (RP 79) On cross examination, he agreed again that he knew the substance was ecstasy. After admitting that, he was asked, “Okay, so you had ecstasy in your pocket and you knew, but you weren’t planning on using it?” He responded, “Yeah, I don’t use drugs.” (RP 90) These are the kinds of words people would use only with controlled substances or illegal drugs. Then again, later he was asked, “How did you know what the substance was that you picked up?” He said, “Well, I got like one more time, I go to high school. I know a lot of...I know a lot of people my age and they’re most of the kids use drugs and

the school that I go to and it's very common you see it around you know.” (RP 92)

Again, his word choices and context and entire tone are that used to talk about illegal drugs and really inconsistent with anything else. The defendant knew he had the pill and powder, he knew it was Ecstasy (MDMA), and he knew it was an illegal drug. The fact that someone has crushed the pill into a powder makes it even more likely that the pill contains a controlled substance. It is simply not true that Mr. Pindter-Bonilla's testimony supports the conclusion that he did not in fact “know” that the pill contained a controlled substance.

The entire appellant's brief discussion about “legal” ecstasy has absolutely no basis whatsoever in the record. There is simply no evidence whatsoever that pills are sold as ecstasy which “may or may not contain the actually controlled substance MDMA” (quoting from Brief of Appellant, p. 18). Nor is there any basis at all to believe that Mr. Pindter-Bonilla may have subjectively believed that ecstasy was a legal drug and thus different than MDMA. The nature of his discussion of ecstasy and his quickness to distance himself from using drugs (RP 79, 90) show that he knew perfectly well it was a controlled substance. There is nothing in the record about many so-called “legal substitutes” for ecstasy (words from Brief of Appellant). This simply comes out of nowhere. Mr. Pindter Bonilla

never said anything about not knowing the nature of the pill, and from what he did say, it was clear he knew it to be ecstasy, an illegal drug.

Thus, there was nothing about the defendant's or anyone's testimony which would have supported giving an unwitting possession instruction. The factors from Buford and Staley are simply not met. If unwitting possession was unavailable, then it could not be ineffective assistance of counsel not to ask for the jury instruction. The problem with appellant's basic logic—that if unwitting possession is the only viable defense to simple possession then it is error not to give the instruction on it-- is that unwitting possession is not a viable defense when, as here, the defendant truthfully admits he knew he had what amounted to a controlled substance in his pocket. Sometimes, when people are truly guilty of a crime, there simply is no viable defense; and it is not ineffective assistance of counsel as a trial tactic to simply force the State to meet its burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt (especially when the defendant presumably admitted guilt to the attorney just as he did on the witness stand to the jury). That is what happened in this case. The defendant exercised his Constitutional right to a trial to force the State to prove its case, and the State proved its case. This does not automatically become ineffective assistance of counsel.

2. **Defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate the unwitting possession affirmative defense where there is no evidence whatsoever in the record that he failed to investigate it, and the defendant admitted to knowing he had drugs in his pocket.**

When an ineffective assistance claim is raised on appeal, the reviewing court may consider only facts within the record. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322 (1995).

The record in this case is completely silent as to research done or not done on the unwitting possession claim. So it is impossible to say the defense attorney in this case did not investigate the affirmative defense of unwitting possession. If the defendant told the attorney while they were preparing for trial what he said at trial, i.e. that he picked up the baggie and recognized the pill inside as ecstasy, a drug that kids in his school do, but which he does not do, because he does not use drugs (RP 79, 90), then the defense attorney would have known the affirmative defense was not available to him.

There is absolutely no evidence whatsoever that the defense attorney did

not consider the affirmative defense, that he did not ask the defendant about controlled substances, or that he did not think up all the possibilities the appellate attorney has thought up in his brief. (See RP entire trial). In fact, it would be very unlikely that the defense attorney had never heard of unwitting possession. The far more likely explanation for the defense's failure to try to use a convoluted theory of the defense of unwitting possession is that the defense attorney had spoken to the defendant and learned that he did know he had illegal drugs in his pocket. We cannot know what the defendant told his attorney about the drugs in his pocket, however the facts that came out on the stand were sufficient to show guilt. Since there was testimony on the witness stand that MDMA and ecstasy were two names for the same thing (RP 34, 67), since the defendant said he had ecstasy, and since the defendant was careful to say he doesn't do drugs (RP 79), we can be sure that the defense attorney realized that the defendant knew he had drugs in his pocket, and therefore the defense attorney could not meet the legal requirements for using an unwitting possession defense.

A review of the transcript, including the trooper's testimony and the defendant's testimony shows no uncertainty in the defendant that what he had was the illegal drug, ecstasy. The trooper's testimony is as follows:

Q: ...What did you do?

A: I asked him what is this? He immediately said, "ecstasy,"
without any—anything or

Q: What—have you had any training in what the street name of
drugs are?

A: Yes

Q: What's "Ecstasy?"

A: It's the MDMA

Q: You know it as MDMA?

A: Correct

Q: And why is that significant?

A: It's a controlled substance. It's a felony to possess it.

(RP 34)

And the defendant's testimony on direct examination was:

A: ...When I got out of my car the edge where I stepped and the
sidewalk I found the little baggy. I found it. I picked it up, you know what I
should have never picked it up. Got me in trouble you know.

Q: What was it?

A: It was ecstasy.

Q: How did you know?

A: Well, I go to high school and I know a lot of people. A bunch of young people do drugs and like I could tell right away that it was ecstasy.

Q: Did you intend to use it?

A: No, I never use drugs. I never use drugs in my life.

Q: Okay. What did you do with it?

A: I just put it in my pocket.

Q: What were you planning to do with it?

A: Just, yeah, I didn't even think about it. I don't know why I put it in my pocket.

(RP 79-80)

Given the facts that the trooper was clear that the defendant immediately knew what the drugs were (RP 47) and that the defendant was clear that he immediately knew what the drugs were (RP 79), there really is no legal basis to think somehow that there existed an affirmative defense for this defendant which the attorney failed to know about.

The appellant's brief also discusses briefly the lack of a 3.5 hearing,

however, again, there is simply no fact in the record upon which to think that was an error on anyone's part, and plenty of evidence in the record to show that the statements of the defendant were made knowingly and voluntarily after advice of rights. The trooper testified he read Mr. Pindter-Bonilla his rights (the proper rights were from his card and were read verbatim to the jury), and he testified that Mr. Pindter-Bonilla understood his rights and then agreed to talk with the officer. (RP 32-33) This occurred before the controlled substance was found. (RP 33-34)

The long-running comparison between unwitting possession and diminished capacity that is in appellant's brief is simply inapplicable to the facts of the case. It is not ineffective assistance to fail to propose an unwitting possession instruction where the defendant says he knew he had drugs in his pocket. The lack of proposal does not suggest the defense attorney did not know unwitting possession existed as a defense. Under these facts it suggests only that the defense attorney knew the standards would not be met. The defense attorney did not commit a serious error.

Moreover, under the second Strickland prong of ineffective assistance of counsel, no prejudice has been shown. There is no likelihood that if the jury had been read the instruction for unwitting possession, that they would have reached a

different verdict. In order for the jury to find the defendant not guilty by unwitting possession, they would have had to decide by a preponderance of evidence that he did not know he had drugs in his pocket. But Mr. Pindter Bonilla said he did know he had drugs in his pocket. The jury could not have found otherwise. The conviction for possession of MDMA should be affirmed.

3. Defense Counsel was not constitutionally ineffective in his argument about reckless driving.

The jury did have the correct standard for reckless driving in front of them. (CP 48-50, Brief of Appellant, p. 43) It was read aloud to the jury before closing arguments. (RP 104-105) The State concedes that the defense in the pre-trial did appear to ignore the fact that speeding is *prima facie* evidence of reckless driving under RCW 46.61.465 (RP 1-14). However, since that occurred at the 3.5/3.6 hearing pre-trial, it did not have any worse consequence than to waste time and give Mr. Pindter-Bonilla a sense for how the trooper would testify on the witness stand at the jury trial.

Reckless driving is defined by statute as follows:

“Any person who drives any vehicle in willful or wanton disregard for the safety of persons or property is guilty of

reckless driving.” RCW 46.61.500

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